MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE FULL COUNCIL HELD ON MONDAY, 21ST NOVEMBER, 2016, 7.30 - 9.35 pm

PRESENT:

Councillors: Ali Gul Ozbek (Mayor), Gina Adamou, Charles Adje, Peray Ahmet, Kaushika Amin, Jason Arthur, Dhiren Basu, David Beacham, Patrick Berryman, John Bevan, Barbara Blake, Mark Blake, Zena Brabazon, Clare Bull, Gideon Bull, Clive Carter, Pippa Connor, Ali Demirci, Isidoros Diakides, Natan Doron, Joseph Ejiofor, Sarah Elliott, Gail Engert, Tim Gallagher, Joe Goldberg, Eddie Griffith, Makbule Gunes, Bob Hare, Emine Ibrahim, Adam Jogee, Claire Kober, Toni Mallett, Jennifer Mann, Stephen Mann, Liz McShane, Peter Mitchell, Liz Morris, Martin Newton, Felicia Opoku, James Patterson, Sheila Peacock, Lorna Reith, Viv Ross, Raj Sahota, Anne Stennett, Alan Strickland, Tucker, Bernice Vanier, Ann Waters, Elin Weston and Charles Wright

31. FILMING AT MEETINGS

The Mayor drew attendees' attention to the notice on the Summons regarding filming at meetings.

32. TO RECEIVE APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Carroll, Christophides, Hearn, Rice and Ayisi.

Apologies for lateness were received from Councillors Adje, Bevan, Tucker and Mark Blake.

33. TO ASK THE MAYOR TO CONSIDER THE ADMISSION OF ANY LATE ITEMS OF BUSINESS IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 100B OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972

The Chief Executive asked that responses to written questions be admitted at item 12 as tabled, explaining they were unavailable earlier given the time required to research and prepare answers.

34. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.



35. TO APPROVE AS A CORRECT RECORD THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 18 JULY 2016

The minutes of the meeting of the Full Council held on 21 July were agreed.

36. TO RECEIVE SUCH COMMUNICATIONS AS THE MAYOR MAY LAY BEFORE THE COUNCIL

The Mayor drew Members' attention to a tabled note of his recent engagements tabled, and set out four particular matters – first, a careers event for young people he recently attended, second, the extremely well-attended commemoration in the borough of Remembrance Sunday. The Mayor invited the Council to thank Tanya Kennedy-Parker for her nearly-forty years of service to old and vulnerable people in the Borough.

Finally, the Mayor noted the passing recently of former Councillor Leonard Cohen, who had been among the first councillors elected to the Borough. He invited Councillor Peacock to make some remarks on her close friend, and then led the Council in a moment of silence in the memory of former Councillor Leonard Cohen.

37. TO RECEIVE THE REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The Chief Executive had no matters to report.

38. TO RECEIVE THE REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER AND ASSISTANT DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Monitoring Officer and Assistant Director of Corporate Governance had no matters to report.

39. CHANGES TO POLITICAL GROUPS AND APPOINTMENTS TO COMMITTEES AND OUTSIDE BODIES

The majority group Chief Whip introduced the report, which sought to make some changes to Committee Memberships following recent resignations of councillors and subsequent by-elections, and a Member's change of political groups.

RESOLVED

Full Council noted:

- a) The changes to Political Group composition detailed at 4.1 of the report
- b) The decision taken between meetings to ensure the Corporate Committee and Staffing and Remuneration Committee remained proportionate, as required by statute.

Full Council agreed:

- a) The changes in Committee membership, as detailed at 4.4 of the report
- b) The appointment of Cllr Barbara Blake to the Board of the Bridge Renewal Trust, as detailed at 4.6 of the report

40. TO RECEIVE REPORTS FROM THE FOLLOWING BODIES

The Mayor invited the Leader of the Council to introduce three reports from Cabinet.

The first report recommended that the Council accept the Department for Communities and Local Government's offer of a four-year funding settlement, as set out in the Cabinet paper tabled as background. This required an efficiency plan, and would allow the Council to access a minimum funding allocation for Revenue Support Grant to 2019-20.

The second report asked Full Council to approve the maintain the current Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2017-18.

The third report recommended Full Council adopt a revised Housing Strategy to cover the period 2017-22.

The Mayor then asked the Chair of the Standards Committee to introduce her report on proposed changes to the Council's Contract Standing Orders, as set out in at Part 4, Section J of the Constitution.

Finally, the Mayor invited the Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to introduce the Committee's Annual Report.

RESOLVED

In relation to the first report from Cabinet, Full Council approved acceptance to the offer of a 4-year funding allocation for 2016-17 to 2019-20 and the submission of the existing MTFS with additional narrative for 2018-19 and 2019-20 as the Efficiency Plan to the Department of Communities and Local Government before 14th October 2016.

In relation to the second report from the Cabinet, Full Council:

- a) Noted that an Equalities Impact Assessment (at appendix E of the Report to Cabinet had been undertaken in relation to the Council Tax Reduction Scheme and that the findings of this EIA must be taken into account when making a decision regarding the Scheme for 2017/18.
- b) Agreed to adopt the Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2017/18 as contained in Appendix C of the Report to Cabinet and therefore retains the same Scheme agreed for 2013/14 and continued since.
- c) Accordingly, the scheme as summarised in Appendix A of the Report to Cabinet and set out in full at Appendix C of the Report to Cabinet continue to apply for 2017/18:
 - i. That pensioners will continue to receive support for the payment of Council Tax.
 - ii. That those in receipt of certain disability benefits continue to receive support for the payment of Council Tax.
 - iii. For all working age claimants, the extent of Council Tax Support available will continue to be capped at 80.2% of Council Tax liability. In other words, working age claimants will continue to receive the same level of Council Tax Support as 2013/14, this amount representing a

19.8% reduction in the level of Council Tax Support available as compared with the amount of Council Tax Benefit received in 2012/2013.

In relation to the third report from Cabinet, Full Council agreed and adopted the revised and final version of Haringey's Housing Strategy, attached as appendix 2 to the Cabinet report, having considered the feedback from and the response to the second stage consultation conducted on Haringey's Housing Strategy, set out in appendix 1 of the attached Cabinet report and the revised and final version of the Equalities Impact Assessment, attached as appendix 3 to the Cabinet report.

In relation to the report from the Standards Committee, Full Council agreed the following amendments to Contract Standing Orders, Part Four of the Constitution, Section J Contract Procedure Rules:

1. Amendments to support the new Procurement Target Operating Model:

1.1. Increase the threshold of delegated powers for Directors to act in the most expedient and efficient manner from £5,000 to £10,000 (CSO 8.02);

1.2. Increase the values for the procurement process requesting at least 3 competitive quotes from between \pounds 5,000 and \pounds 100,000 to between \pounds 10,000 and \pounds 160,000 (CSO 8.03);

1.3. Increase the threshold of goods and services contracts requiring advertisement (tender) with an estimated value of £100,000 to a new threshold of £160,000 (CSO 9.01.1);

1.4. Increase the threshold of Works contracts requiring advertisement (tender) with an estimated value of £25,000 to a new threshold of £500,000 (CSO 9.01);

1.5. Introduce a threshold of £500,000 or more for contracts subject to the Light Touch Regime (social care related) requiring advertisement (tender) (CSO 9.01);

1.6. Increase the threshold for the commencement of works, goods or services under a Letter of Intent from \pounds 50,000 to \pounds 100,000 or 10% of the total contract value, whichever is the higher (CSO 9.07.3); and

1.7. Require approval from the Chief Operating Officer before entering into any joint procurement activity with other contracting authorities (CSO 7.04).

2. Amendments relating to the introduction of new Procurement related technology platforms:

2.1. Mandate the use of Corporate Procurement related systems to include corporate sourcing and contract management systems (defined in CSO 2.02 c);

2.2. Mandate contracts are stored in the Councils Contract Repository (CSO 3.02 h);

2.3. The threshold requiring all contracts valued at \pounds 5,000 or more to be entered onto the corporate contracts register, is increased to a new threshold of \pounds 10,000 or more and is now required to be recorded in the Corporate Contracts repository (CSO 3.02 m); and

2.4. Amendments to include provision for sealing, award and signing of contracts by electronic means as provided within the Corporate Procurement Systems (CSO 9.02.4 and 9.08.9).

- Amendments relating to the use of a Dynamic Procurement System:
 3.1. Incorporate amendments to facilitate the use of a Dynamic Purchasing System (CSO 9.04).
- 4. Amendments to support the introduction of new or updated regulations:
 4.1. Incorporate amendments to support statutory changes to the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) (the "Regulations") (multiple references throughout the document have been added); and
 4.2. Incorporate amendments to support introduction of the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (the "Regulations") (multiple references throughout the document have been added).

5. Amendments to address inconsistencies relating to thresholds and Key Decisions

5.1. Increase the threshold for waivers requiring Cabinet approval above $\pounds 250,000$ to a revised threshold of $\pounds 500,000$ or more (CSO 10.01.1 a); and

5.2. Increase the threshold for waivers requiring Director approval below $\pounds 250,000$ to below a revised threshold of below $\pounds 500,000$ (CSO 10.01.1 b).

6. Additional minor drafting amendments to the Contract Standing Orders as required to support the above changes.

7. Extension to the current Consortia drafting (CSO 7.04 d) to make provision for on-going shared services arrangements, whereby procurements may be undertaken by one of the other members of the Consortia on behalf of the Council.

In relation to the report from the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Council noted their Annual Report

41. TO CONSIDER REQUESTS TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS AND/OR PETITIONS AND, IF APPROVED, TO RECEIVE THEM

The Mayor informed Members that a petition had been received with sufficient signatures to trigger a debate at Full Council. He invited Rose Bernstein, on behalf of Refugees Welcome Haringey, to introduce the petition that called on the Council to ensure the resettlement of four Syrian refugee families by Christmas 2016 via the Vulnerable Person Resettlement Scheme.

Ms Bernstein welcomed the Council's recent announcement that it would resettle ten Syrian refugee families and set out that there had been local interest in accommodating refugee families, which she encouraged the Council to accept. She requested information on the Council's lead on resettlement and who its main partner organisation was, that the Council work to resettle four of those accepted families by mid January, that there be a clear timescale for resettlement of the remainder and that there be a commitment to work with Refugees Welcome Haringey. Following a question from Councillor Morris, Ms Bernstein said the Council could welcome more than the three announced unaccompanied refugee children.

In the debate that followed, Councillor Engert noted the historically high levels of refugees globally and the Borough's history of accepting refugees. She supported the target of three thousand unaccompanied children being accepted into the United Kingdom, and urged the Council to accept more unaccompanied refugee children.

Councillor Hare emphasised there was cross-party support for accepting refugees, but asked why it had taken so long for the Council to take action, particularly given alternative spending decisions.

Responding to the debate, Councillor Kober noted the cross-party action she had led within London Councils, and regretted the Government's low-level commitment and lack of clarity on the support available to authorities accepting refugees under the Vulnerable Persons Resettlement Scheme. She stressed that accommodation for the accepted families was the key issue in enabling their resettlement. In relation to unaccompanied refugee children, she noted that London had already accepted a good number, and that Haringey had already accepted 46 children – which is over the recommended threshold by the Government. She responded to Ms Bernstein's questions by stating that the Deputy Chief Executive had overall responsibility for this matter, that the third sector partner was Embrace UK, that families would be resettled as soon as accommodation was provided and that she welcomed the offer of engagement with Refugees Welcome Haringey.

The Mayor then led a round of applause from the Council for the petitioners.

42. TO ANSWER QUESTIONS, IF ANY, IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE NOS. 9 & 10

The Mayor accepted this late item of urgent business, as the answers to questions had needed to be researched and prepared after the summons had been dispatched.

Nathan Lee, a member of the public asked his question, which was responded to by the Leader.

Oral questions one to six were then asked and responded to.

43. ANNUAL CARBON REPORT 2016

The Mayor invited Councillor Goldberg to introduce to introduce the Annual Carbon Report.

Councillor Goldberg noted that Haringey was unique in presenting transparently the progress of reducing carbon, and welcomed the progress made in the last year despite an increase in population. He noted that carbon reduction had been impressive in the borough, despite starting from a relatively low base, and set out

some concerns at the impact of international political developments on the carbon reduction agenda.

Following questions from Councillors Hare, Doron, J Mann and Ejiofor, Councillor Goldberg commended the report to Council.

Noted:

- That the Annual Report be made publically available, to engage residents in the Haringey 40:20 initiative.
- That Councillors engage with the initiative and lead action in their community, promoting the importance of reducing carbon emissions whilst increasing prosperity.
- That the future projects outlined on pages 46 to 50 of the report are implemented and further opportunities are identified, subject to the availability of external funding and grants.
- That Haringey continues to report annually on our progress to reduce emissions 40% by 2020, delivering growth and increasing prosperity.

44. THE HARINGEY DEBATE - HOW WOULD THE INTRODUCTION OF THE RENTERS' BILL IMPROVE PRIVATE RENTING FOR HARINGEY'S RESIDENTS?

The Mayor invited Councillor Engert to introduce the topic for the Haringey Debate.

Councillor Engert set out that there would be no external speaker, given the time expected to reach this item – and she hoped the handling of the debate would be considered as part of the governance review. She set out that the Renters' Bill had passed the Lords since tabling the motion on the same issue (the following item), and how it would improve the treatment of renters financially and in terms of their safety.

Councillor Wright set out that rented accommodation was prevalent in the borough though not preferable, and that poor treatment of renters in the private sector led to an increased demand on the social rented sector. He set out how the Housing Strategy, agreed earlier in the meeting, would help improve matters, and that the Council should press the Government to allow it to provide more homes.

Councillor J Mann welcomed the debate, which was of great importance to residents, but felt the Renters' Bill did not go far enough and hoped the Commons would strengthen the Bill. She further welcomed action taken by the Council in relation to housing.

Councillor Morris noted the rise in the number of renters, and how that increased the potential for rogue landlords. She was particularly concerned at the impact of poor housing on children and young people, particularly their health and learning. While the Renters' Bill would not solve all issues, it would be a helpful step forward.

Councillor Sahota expressed his concern at the Government's Housing Bill, and regretted that previous attempts to provide similar improvements seen in the Renters' Bill, in amendments to the Consumer Rights Bill, were not successful.

Councillor Blake set out concerns of local residents in relation to renting, and the lack of rights they have, particularly given the high costs paid. She stressed that the quality of building by the Council was as important as the quantity.

Councillor Carter believed there was cross-party support for ending letting fees, and for many of the proposals in the Bill, which should also be welcomed by reputable landlords. He was also keen on a London-wide landlord registration scheme to help ensure their quality.

Responding on behalf of the Cabinet, Councillor Strickland welcomed the debate on housing and renting in particular. He had visited very poor quality properties with the enforcement team. He also regretted that the earlier efforts to provide renters' rights were not successful, and set out where the Renters' Bill fell short of what was required. He outlined that there would be a renting policy in the near future following the agreement of the Housing Strategy, which would build on the wider agenda of providing more housing.

Responding, Councillor Engert set out the Renters' Bill would provide key improvements, and would tackle some of the worst practices, as observed by Councillors. She then proposed that the business be amended to allow the motion on the renters' bill be moved forward to allow a vote immediately. This was seconded by Councillor Morris.

On a vote, the motion to amend the order of business was not agreed, and the agenda proceeded as circulated.

45. TO CONSIDER THE FOLLOWING MOTIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE NO. 13

The Mayor set out that there were two motions tabled for debate, and invited Councillor Reith to introduce the first motion.

Councillor Reith set out the background to her motion, and the broad support for London being a National Park City. It would make London be seen differently, and ensure pride in its parks, and give a greater sense of public ownership and guardianship over them. Ultimately, this would make London greener and a more healthy place to live.

Seconding the motion, Councillor McShane outlined the number parks and green spaces in the borough, and thanked the parks service for its work to maintain them. The motion would show Haringey's support for the value of its parks.

Councillor Doron echoed the sentiments made, and set out Haringey was one of the greenest boroughs in one of the greenest capital cities in the world. He encouraged all members to agree the motion.

Councillor Carter welcomed the motion, particularly as the nineteenth ward in the borough had expressed support for this motion very recently.

Councillor Berryman welcomed the improvement to Haringey's parks over many years, and believed there was a public interest in maintaining good parks with public funds, given their environmental and social benefits.

Councillor Ahmet welcomed the motion and support for the campaign across the borough, and added her thanks to the parks staff.

Responding, Councillor Reith set out this was the beginning of the campaign, which Haringey had showed clear support for.

The Mayor then put the motion to Council, when it was agreed by acclamation.

Proposing the second motion, Councillor Engert referred to her earlier remarks and recommended it be moved without discussion. Councillor Morris seconded the motion.

Responding, Councillor Kober said that the matter was of great importance to residents and beyond party politics, and that her group would support it.

The Mayor then put the motion to Council, when it was agreed by acclamation.

RESOLVED

Motion D - Making London a National Park City

Over the last 18 months, a movement has been growing in London to make the city a greener, healthier, fairer and even more beautiful place to live. The objective of the movement is to achieve National Park City status for Greater London.

This Council notes:

- That the Greater London Nation Park City initiative has already gained support from more than 100 organisations, ranging from small community groups to universities and large companies. In addition, the London Assembly unanimously passed a motion to help develop the proposals and further support has been given from Parliament and local government.
- That turning London into a National Park City will help:
 - Ensure 100% of Londoners have free and easy access to high-quality green space
 - Connect 100% of London's children to nature
 - Make the majority of London physically green
 - Improve London's air and water quality, year on year
 - Improve the richness, connectivity and biodiversity of London's habitats
 - Inspire the building of affordable green homes
 - Inspire new business activities
 - Promote London as a Green World City
 - Nurture a shared National Park City identity for Londoners

This Council further notes:

• That to become a National Park in England, Natural England (the Government's adviser for the natural environment in England) must view a landscape as an 'extensive tract of country'.

- That, with its distinctive, urban natural and cultural heritage, historic landscape, and many opportunities for outdoor recreation, London meets many requirements for becoming a National Park but it isn't, however an 'extensive tract of country' in the spirit of existing legislation. As such, the intention of this initiative is to transform Greater London into a National Park City, a new kind of National Park that sits outside of current legislation.
- That London can become a National Park City once at least two-thirds (436) of London's 654 wards, the Mayor of London and the London Assembly have declared their support.
- That 85% of Londoners think that making London a National Park City is a good idea and 84% think that it is something London Councils and the Mayor of London should support
- That Labour London Mayor Sadiq Khan has already given his backing and 210 wards, including many in Haringey, across 30 boroughs have also declared their support.

This Council recognises:

- That London's landscape is central to our health and prosperity and the quality of the capital's built and natural environment – its green, blue and open spaces – is what makes it one of the world's most desirable cities in which to live, work and invest.
- That all Haringey's green spaces, including 22 parks and open spaces managed by the Council which have been awarded Green Flag status, are incredibly important and provide many health and recreation benefits for residents.

This Council resolves:

- To support the campaign to make London a National Park City
- To encourage councillors from all wards in the borough to give their support to the initiative.
- To write to both MPs in Haringey to encourage them to also give their full public backing to the initiative.

Motion E – Renters' Bill

This council notes Baroness Grenders' private member bill on renters' rights, which is currently at the committee stage in the House of Lords. If passed this bill could bring significant changes to the rented housing sector in Haringey and the rest of the country.

This council notes that the Renters' Bill, which is supported by Generation Rent and the Debrief's "Make Renting Fair" campaign, proposes to:

- Ban letting fees for renters
- Give renters access to an open register of rogue landlords
- Bring in compulsory electrical safety checks in rented homes
- Prevent rogue landlords from obtaining an HMO licence

This council is concerned that letting fees and rogue landlords have a significant impact on local residents in Haringey and across the country, with almost one in five

of the population, one-third of them families with children, renting. In fact, Just under a quarter of renters in London have moved three times or more in the past five years.

This council also notes the impact of letting fees, moving costs and agencies:

- In London, the median amount that renters must pay before moving is £1,500, and in many cases the cost is several thousand pounds.
- Citizens Advice, has seen 80,000 people with a problem in the private rented sector in the last year, with an 8% increase in complaints about letting agent.

This council further notes:

- letting fees for tenants have already been banned in Scotland
- the Government have introduced legislation on rogue landlords in the Housing and Planning Act 2016, but they stopped short of giving tenants access to the list of rogue landlords

This council is committed to improving standards for renters and supports the Renters' Bill. This council calls on the Leader of the Council to write to the local MPs and urge them to support the bill when it reaches the House of Commons.

CHAIR:

Signed by Chair

Date